71613-1

71613-1

No. 71613-1-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

King County No. 12-1-01971-8 KNT

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ERIC ARMSTRONG,

Appellant.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ALLEN, HANSEN, & MAYBROWN, P.S. Attorneys for Appellant

David Allen, Esq. 600 University St. Suite 3020 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 447-9681



## **

#### A. Assignments of Error

3

1. Where the State did not obtain a warrant in the first instance authorizing the seizure of the Defendant's blood following a fatal motor vehicle accident, the State was nevertheless required to obtain a search warrant authorizing the testing of Defendant's blood prior to having it tested and the BAC results must therefore be suppressed under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. 1, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution.

2. The trial court erred in entering its Order on Defendant's CrR 3.6 Motion, which held that exigent circumstances excused the deputy's failure to obtain a warrant prior to having Defendant's blood drawn, which ruling denied Defendant's CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress the Seizure of Defendant's Blood, thereby violating the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. 1, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court's Order on Defendant's CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress Blood Draw for Failure to Obtain a Warrant, entered on August 21, 2013, (CP 23), is attached hereto as Appendix A.

3. There was no substantial evidence to support the following Findings of Fact that are contained in the Court's Order on Defendant's CrR 3.6 Motion (*see* Note 1, *supra* and Appendix A hereto):

3A. Finding of Fact 21.

٩

3B. Finding of Fact 22.

3C. Finding of Fact 23.

4. It was error to enhance Defendant's sentence on the basis of a prior DUI that resulted in a deferred adjudication.

#### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

. 1. Where the Defendant's blood was drawn at the scene of the accident without being authorized by a judicial warrant and where there were no exigencies requiring that the blood be tested immediately and where in fact the blood was not tested until eight days after it was drawn, was it a violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. 1, sec. 7 of the Washington State Constitution to test the Defendant's blood without a judicial warrant? (Assignment of Error 1.)

2. Where the deputy did not obtain a warrant to draw the Defendant's blood following a fatal automobile crash, did exigent circumstances exist to justify that failure? (Assignment of Error 2.)

2

3. Where the deputy did not obtain a warrant for Defendant's blood following a fatal automobile crash, and where it was clear from the record that the deputy was negligent in not attempting to obtain a judicial warrant either due to his lack of experience or his failure to understand the procedures, can this create exigent circumstances? (Assignment of Error 2.)

٦

4. Where the Defendant was going to be transferred from the scene to a nearby hospital by aid car which was a 10 minute drive at some point in the future and the deputy could have traveled there and used the hospital's phones or fax to contact an on-call judge to obtain a warrant to draw blood, as the deputy believed was necessary, and where the Defendant walked into the aid car under his own power and then was talking to paramedics while sitting upright on a bench in the aid car when the deputy first encountered him, which would indicate that he was either uninjured or any injuries were minor, and where the deputy stated that he had no reason to believe that the Defendant would be put on an IV at the hospital, could the court still rely upon exigent circumstances to justify the seizure of blood at the scene without a warrant? (Assignment of Error 2.)

5. Whether there was substantial evidence to support Findings of Fact 21, 22 and 23.<sup>2</sup> (Assignments of Error 3 A-C.)

6. By enhancing the Defendant's sentence based on a prior DUI deferred adjudication without alleging this as an enhancement in the Information as required by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and Art. 1, sec. 3 of the Washington State Constitution, did this violate the rule laid down by *Blakely v. Washington*? (Assignment of Error 4.)

7. Did the Court violate Washington state law by enhancing the Defendant's sentence based on a prior DUI deferred adjudication in that a deferred adjudication is not a conviction? (Assignment of Error 4.)

#### II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

•

Defendant Michael E. Armstrong was charged in King County Superior Court on April 4, 2012 in a two-count Information. Count I charged Vehicular Homicide pursuant to RCW 46.61.520(1)(a) with the victim being Mary Ross, Sr. (b. 1951).<sup>3</sup> Count II charged Vehicular Assault pursuant to RCW 45.61.522(1)(b) with the victim being Mary Ross, Jr. CP 1-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Findings contained in the Order on Defendant's CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress Blood will be designated as "FF (CrR 3.6)." See Appendix A, hereto.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The victims in this case were Mary Ross (b. 1951) and her daughter, also named Mary Ross (b. 1986). In the interest of clarity, the mother will be designated as Mary Ross, Sr., and the daughter, Mary Ross, Jr.

Defendant Armstrong filed motions to suppress the blood draw on multiple grounds (CP 11-14). The Court denied said motions and issued written orders as to the respective motions. CP 15-19; 23-33; 51-61.

Defendant Armstrong waived his right to a jury trial and agreed to have this matter tried as a stipulated facts trial. CP 64-68. Following the trial, the trial court issued its Order on Stipulated Facts – Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 24, 2014, finding the Defendant guilty of the crimes charged in Count I and Count II. CP 69-74.

Defendant Armstrong was sentenced on February 28, 2014. The Judgment and Sentence imposed a standard range concurrent sentence on Counts I and II of 41 months and additionally imposed an enhancement of 48 months based upon a prior DUI conviction and a deferred adjudication for DUI to run consecutive to the 41 month sentence, and remanded the Defendant to custody. CP 79-86.

The Defendant timely filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court. CP 87-88.

#### III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

٠

On February 19, 2012, at approximately 12:30 a.m., a two-car collision occurred at the intersection of 212<sup>th</sup> Ave. SE & SE 400<sup>th</sup> Street in

the City of Enumclaw. RP 14.<sup>4</sup> King County Sheriff's Deputies and medical units were dispatched. *Id.* 

•

Defendant Armstrong, who was driving a black pickup truck southbound on 212<sup>th</sup> Avenue SE, was accompanied by a woman friend. The other vehicle, a passenger car, was driven by Mary Ross, Jr. accompanied by her mother, Mary Ross, Sr. Order on Stipulated Facts – Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 1, 2, 3, 4.<sup>5</sup>

The Defendant's Chevrolet pickup truck traveled southbound through the stop sign and struck the passenger side of the Ross vehicle. Trial FF 7. The impact to the Ross vehicle resulted in fatal injuries to Mary Ross, Sr., and she was pronounced dead at the scene. Trial FF 8. The driver, Mary Ross, Jr., was injured and taken to Auburn General Hospital. Trial FF 9.

Deputy Stanton testified at the CrR 3.6 suppression hearing on August 13, 2013 that he had been a King County Sheriff's Deputy for eight years and had specialized training in DUI enforcement. RP 7. In 2009 he became a Drug Recognition Expert (DRE) and additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RP refers to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings prepared and filed in this case by the Appellant and includes motions hearings on August 13, 2013; October 9, 2013; the stipulated bench trial from January 13, 2014; and the sentencing hearing. Another hearing occurred on July 11, 2013, but was only recently located and transcribed because of an error in the Clerk's records, but is not referenced as to issues raised in this appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law from Defendant's stipulated facts trial will be hereinafter designated as "Trial FF." CP 69-74.

advanced training which would assist him to identify if someone is impaired by alcohol or certain drugs. RP 8.

On February 19, 2012 at 12:31 a.m. he was dispatched to the accident in this case. RP 17. He arrived on scene at 12:43 a.m. RP 18. At the time he arrived, there were two deputies present who had been assigned to the nearby Muckleshoot Reservation. RP 18-19; RP 24. There were also several fire aid units present. *Id.* 

Deputy Stanton spoke with Deputy Pritchett, who had preceded him to the accident scene. RP 25. Deputy Stanton learned from Deputy Pritchett that a witness had seen a male crawling out of the driver seat of the truck. RP 25.

Deputy Stanton testified that he first saw Defendant Armstrong walking to the ambulance and then saw him sitting upright on a bench seat in the ambulance. RP 26, lines 18-22.<sup>6</sup> There was also a female present, who he assumed was the passenger in Defendant's vehicle, who was likewise sitting upright on a jump seat in the ambulance. RP 26. The deputy observed that Defendant Armstrong was crying. RP 27-28. He heard the EMTs ask Mr. Armstrong questions about his medical status which he answered, although Deputy Stanton did not remember his

٩

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also Trial FF 17.

answers. RP 28. The deputy testified that he smelled the odor of alcohol on Defendant's breath. *Id.* at 29.

It was the deputy's understanding that the EMTs were going to take Mr. Armstrong to a hospital, but he did not know which hospital nor did he have any idea what injuries Mr. Armstrong may have had. His interaction with Mr. Armstrong lasted only "a few minutes." RP 29. Deputy Stanton did not recall any conversations with the EMTs as to the nature of Defendant's injuries. RP 38.

Deputy Stanton advised "radio" that he had felt he had probable cause to believe the Defendant was under the influence and that a blood draw needed to be done because he assumed that Defendant would be taken to the hospital "fairly soon." *Id.* at 29.

Sergeant Jencks arrived on the scene at 1:01 a.m. and he and Deputy Stanton had a conversation about doing a blood draw. According to Deputy Stanton, Sergeant Jencks asked him to do the draw while the Medic Unit was still on the scene. RP 33.

At 1:09 a.m. Deputy Stanton learned that one of the occupants of the other vehicle had died and he decided that he would do a "Special Evidence" blood draw under the implied consent statute. RP 34-35. Previously, he had done Special Evidence warnings approximately 20 or 30 times. He had obtained a search warrant prior to doing a Special Evidence warning only one time previously. RP 35.

.

Deputy Stanton read Defendant Armstrong his constitutional rights using a "DUI arrest packet" and asked if he understood. Defendant Armstrong did not answer. RP 37. According to Deputy Stanton, Defendant Armstrong was awake and appeared to be alert. RP 40. Defendant Armstrong was then put on a backboard and a paramedic was instructed to draw Mr. Armstrong's blood. RP 41-43.

Deputy Stanton testified that if a suspect is taken to the hospital and needs medical care, there is typically a delay of 30-40 minutes on "average" before a blood draw can be drawn. RP 48; 56.

Deputy Stanton explained that his cell phone, which operates on the Sprint network, did not get reception for most of the area where they were. RP 56-57. However, the deputy had radio reception through his dispatcher and could have asked the dispatcher to call a judge and speak with the judge over the radio for the purpose of obtaining a warrant. RP 57.

According to the deputy, the blood draw was done under the Special Evidence rules and procedures and not under exigent

9

circumstances. RP 63-64.<sup>7</sup> The blood draw was done at 1:19 a.m. The Defendant remained on the scene for 10 or 15 minutes after the blood draw, which would have been until about 1:30 a.m. when he was then taken by ambulance to St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Enumclaw, which is approximately a 10 or 15 minute drive. RP 65.

Deputy Stanton was asked by the prosecutor whether he was "thinking at all in terms of exigent circumstances with respect to the blood draw?" The deputy's confusing answer demonstrated that he did not understand the procedure:

Well, Special Evidence I believe in itself is a exigent circumstances. You're trying to get a purist, closest blood draw to the time that the person was last behind the wheel, if possible. So the fact that he was still on scene, the medic on scene, allowed me to get, to get the blood while he was still there. If he had left prior to me, prior to the medics, or the medics were not available, um, I would have had to go to the hospital with him.

RP 65.

.

The deputy said he believed that he was authorized under "Special Evidence and the implied consent to take blood under certain circumstances, whether it was voluntary or involuntary." RP 66. When Deputy Stanton was asked again on redirect by the prosecutor whether he was thinking at all in terms of exigent circumstances with regard to blood

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The trial court, however, ruled that exigent circumstances justified the seizure of the Defendant's blood. Order, CP 23, 32 (Appendix A, hereto).

draw, he replied: "Special Evidence I believe in itself is an exigent circumstance." *Id.* at 65. Otherwise, he would have had to go to the hospital with the Defendant to do the blood draw. *Id.* 

In response to a question by the trial judge, Deputy Stanton admitted that at the time of this incident he had no information that would have indicated that Mr. Armstrong was likely to get an IV when he arrived at the emergency room. RP 69. Mr. Armstrong was not free to leave the scene once the officer decided to do a blood draw. RP 70. The deputy had no reason to suspect that Mr. Armstrong was under the influence of anything other than alcohol. RP 71.

The deputy claimed that it would take an hour and a half to two hours to get a search warrant. RP 71. Based on a prior experience, he claims that a judge made him scan his written request to a PDF format and email it to him, the judge then printed it out and signed it and emailed it back to him and he then printed it out. This took place at the Covington Precinct. RP 72. He does not have a scanner in his car and he claims he did not get "very good reception."<sup>8</sup> On the prior warrant, he had to talk to other deputies who helped walk him through it and had to also contact another DRE that evening to assist. RP 73. He claims he has had more training since then on obtaining a warrant. RP 73.

The trial judge asked the deputy about available judges to contact at night and he replied that there was a list mailed out by a paralegal which he had on his computer in his patrol car. RP 74. However, none of the warrants he ever obtained, either before or after this, were done from his police car, but instead at a police precinct. RP 76.

Defendant's blood was first tested at the WSP Toxicology Lab on February 27, 2012, eight days after it was seized, and the testing revealed a blood alcohol concentration of .17 g/100mL. Trial FF 20.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>A Warrant to Test Defendant's Blood Was Required</u> (Assignment of Error 1)

This Court recently decided *State v. Martines*, \_\_\_\_\_ Wn.App. \_\_\_\_\_, 331 P.3d 105 (2014).<sup>9</sup> In *Martines*, the defendant was arrested after he was involved in a multi-vehicle car accident and a WSP trooper believed that he was under the influence. Unlike the instant case, the trooper first obtained a search warrant to extract a blood sample from Mr. Martines. The sample was later tested and showed that Mr. Martines' BAC was .121 within an hour after the accident and that he also had Valium in his system. He was charged and convicted of felony DUI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It is assumed he was referring to his cell phone in that he never complained about radio reception.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Appellant will cite to the page numbers from the P.3d opinion since the Wn.App. page numbers are not yet available on WestLaw.

The primary issue raised in *Martines* was whether a search warrant permitting the testing of a blood sample was required, in that the warrant which authorized the extraction of blood did not authorize blood testing. Because the issue was constitutional in nature, this Court reviewed it pursuant to RAP 2.5(a), although it was raised for the first time on appeal.

This Court held that even where the State has probable cause to suspect that the driver was under the influence "[b]ecause the testing of blood is a search, a warrant is required." *Id.* at 111. This Court explained that a:

particularized warrant for blood testing will prevent the State from rummaging among the various items of information obtained in the blood sample for evidence unrelated to drunk driving.

Id.

4

This Court also wrote that the initial warrant obtained by the trooper could easily have been written to authorize testing the blood for evidence of alcohol and intoxication "but it contained no such language." Instead, "[a]s written, the warrant did not authorize testing at all." *Id.* Therefore,

The testing that occurred in the toxicology lab was a warrantless search.

Id.

The facts of the instant case are even more compelling than those in *Martines*. Unlike *Martines*, where there was a judicially issued search warrant to draw the blood in the first instance, here there were absolutely no warrants at all prior to the testing of the Defendant's blood.

.

In this case, the trial court relied on an exigency to uphold the extraction of blood without a warrant. Blood testing, however, did not occur until February 27, 2012, eight days after the blood was drawn at the scene of the accident. *See*: Trial FF 18, CP 72. There were obviously no exigencies during the eight days between the drawing of the blood and its testing that would justify the State's failure to obtain a warrant to test Defendant Armstrong's blood.

That being the case, this Court must suppress evidence of the blood testing on the ground that it violated the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. 1, Sec. 7 of the Washington State Constitution. *Martines* at 112.

#### B. <u>Missouri v. McNeely Required a Warrant to Draw</u> Defendant's Blood at the Scene (Assignment of Error 2)

In *Missouri v. McNeely*, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), a driver who declined to take a breath test to measure his BAC was arrested and taken to a nearby hospital for blood testing. The driver refused to consent to a blood test and the officer directed a lab technician to take a

sample. After being charged with "DWI," the defendant moved to suppress the blood test arguing that the failure of the officer to obtain a warrant violated his Fourth Amendment rights.

The prosecution proposed a *per se* rule establishing exigent circumstances in all DUI cases involving a blood alcohol concentration test (BAC) based on the fact that the BAC evidence dissipates over time. This was rejected by the Court:

But it does not follow that we should depart from careful case-by-case assessment of exigency and adopt the categorical rule proposed by the State and its *amici*. In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the ethicacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so. (Emphasis added.)

Id. at 1561.

.

This is especially so because unlike destruction of evidence cases where "police are truly confronted with a 'now or never' situation . . . BAC evidence from a drunk driving suspect naturally dissipates over time in a gradual and relatively predictable manner." *McNeely*, *id.* (*quoting* from *Roaden v. Kentucky*, 413 U.S. 496, 505 (1973)).

The *McNeely* Court explained that the State's proposed *per se* rule did not recognize that since *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757 (1966) was decided, there have been advances in

the more expeditious processing of warrant applications, particularly in contexts like drunk-driving investigations where the evidence offered to establish probable cause is simple.

1561-62.

.

The Court wrote that since 1977 the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure permitted a federal magistrate to issue a warrant based on sworn testimony communicated by telephone or other reliable electronic means and that

> Well over a majority of the states allow police officers or prosecutors to apply for search warrants remotely through various means, including telephonic or radio communications, electronic communications such as email, and video conferencing.

Id. at 1562.

Importantly, the foregoing passage from *McNeely* was footnoted (footnote 4) which referenced states that have statutes or rules permitting telephonic or other electronic warrant applications. This footnote specifically mentioned the Washington State's court rule on telephonic warrants "Wash. Super. Ct. Crim. Rule 2.3(c) (2002)." This Washington rule, CrR 2.3(c) "Search and seizure" provides that telephonic search warrants are authorized.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Rule CrRLJ 2.3(c) applying to courts of limited jurisdiction is identical and permits a search warrant application to be electronically recorded.

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