NO. 71613-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ERIC ARMSTRONG,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE ANDREA DARVAS

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Likewise, in <u>State v. Potter</u>, 156 Wn.2d 835, 840, 132 P.3d 1089 (2006), the court held under similar circumstances that evidence obtained as the result of the defendant's arrest under RCW 46.20.289 was admissible. The court noted the general rule that "police are charged to enforce laws until and unless they are declared unconstitutional" unless a statute is "so grossly and flagrantly unconstitutional" that any reasonable

person would not rely on it. <u>Potter</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 842-43. <u>But see State v.</u> <u>Afana</u>, 169 Wn.2d 169, 184, 233 P.3d 879 (2010) (rejecting the good faith exception based on the officer's reasonable reliance on *decisional* law).

Indeed, the language of Article I, section 7 supports the application of the good faith exception based on reasonable reliance on a statute that had been held to be constitutional at the time of the search. The constitutional provision reads, "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." WA CONST. art. I, § 7 (emphasis added). At the time that the blood draw was performed here, Deputy Stanton was acting under authority of law – a law that the Washington Supreme Court had ruled was constitutional. Thus, even if the Washington Supreme Court were to reverse itself and hold that Article I, section 7 now prohibits warrantless blood draws under the implied consent statute, Deputy Stanton was acting under authority of law that was valid at the time of the search. As such, Article I, section 7 does not mandate suppression of this evidence.

Finally, the State respectfully submits that to the extent this Court may interpret Afana as precluding application of the good faith exception in *all* cases, even those in which the officer was relying on a *statute* that had been ruled to be constitutional at the time, that decision is incorrect and harmful. The court "must have and exert the capacity to change a rule"

of law when reason so requires." State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 248
P.3d 494 (2011). Such a broad application of Afana is incorrect for the reasons argued above. Moreover, it is harmful by excluding very probative and reliable evidence from the truth-seeking process with no systemic benefit to the criminal justice system, such as deterring unlawful police conduct.

Because the blood draw in this case was conducted pursuant to a statute determined to be constitutional prior to McNeely, it was admissible under the good faith exception to the warrant requirement.

3. NO WARRANT WAS REQUIRED TO ANALYZE ARMSTRONG'S LAWFULLY-SEIZED BLOOD FOR ITS ALCOHOL CONTENT.

Though not raised below, Armstrong contends that the forensic toxicologist's examination of his blood should have been suppressed because the State failed to obtain a search warrant specifically authorizing the testing. In support of this argument, he relies solely on this Court's decision in Martines, supra. However, Martines was wrongly decided. No such search warrant is required. Rather, once the police lawfully have evidence in their custody, no judicial authorization is needed to examine the evidence more closely and determine its evidentiary value.

As noted above, the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984). "A search occurs for Fourth Amendment purposes when 'an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 189, 867 P.2d 593 (1994) (citations omitted). Article I, section 7 of the Washington constitution provides greater protection in some areas than does the federal constitution. State v. Surge, 160 Wn.2d 65, 70, 156 P.3d 208 (2007). That provision prohibits government intrusion upon private affairs without authority of law. WASH. CONST. art. I, § 7. Under Article I, section 7, a search occurs when there is an intrusion into "those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant." State v. Rose, 128 Wn.2d 388, 400, 909 P.2d 280 (1996) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). For the intrusion to constitute a search, it must be an unreasonable intrusion. State v. Boland, 115 Wn.2d 571, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990).

Here, the taking of a blood sample constitutes a search and seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 7.

State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525, 534, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993); Judge, 100 Wn.2d at 711. However, as outlined above in Section C. 1,

Deputy Stanton lawfully seized the blood pursuant to the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. CP 30-32.

Armstrong does not appear to dispute that there was probable cause to believe that he had caused death or injury to another while driving a car under the influence of alcohol, and that evidence of the crime of Vehicular Homicide could be found in his blood; indeed his briefing appears to concede as much. Brf. of Appellant at 23. Instead, Armstrong contends that the results of the blood testing must be suppressed because, separate and apart from any exigent circumstances which justified the *seizure* of his blood, the State did not procure a warrant which authorized the *testing* of his blood. However, apart from Martines, there are no Washington cases that support Armstrong's argument. Instead, the weight of authority – both in Washington and across the country – is to the contrary. This Court should conclude that Martines was wrongly decided, and that no separate warrant authorizing testing of lawfully seized evidence is required.

The <u>Martines</u> court separated the act of seizing a sample of a person's blood from the act of examining the seized substance, holding that the latter is a search for which a warrant is required, and the failure to secure a warrant that specifically refers to testing is a constitutional violation that must result in suppression of evidence. 182 Wn. App.

at 522. This broad holding is inconsistent with Washington cases, as well as cases from other jurisdictions, and creates great uncertainty for law enforcement regarding what types of forensic analysis require judicial authorization. This Court should decline to follow it.

First, the holding in Martines conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Washington Supreme Court. Division II permitted the forensic examination of a computer, seized pursuant to a valid search warrant, outside of the ten-day period in which the warrant was to be executed. State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. App. 518, 174 P.3d 706 (2008), aff'd, 169 Wn.2d 47 (2010). In doing so, that court observed that "it is generally understood that a lawful seizure of apparent evidence of a crime using a valid search warrant includes a right to test or examine the seized materials to ascertain their evidentiary value." Id. at 532 (citing 2 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 4.10(e), at 771 (4th ed. 2004)).

Similarly, the state supreme court has concluded that law enforcement may forensically examine evidence without further authorization because, once the evidence is lawfully in police custody, the suspect's expectation of privacy in that evidence is so reduced that no protectable interest remains under either the federal or state constitution.

State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 634-44, 81 P.3d 830 (2003)

⁷ Although the <u>Martines</u> court took pains to distinguish a number of cases on which the State relied, it did not mention <u>Grenning</u> at all.

(concluding that an arrested defendant lost any privacy interest in his shoes once they were lawfully in police custody); State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 820-29 & n.36, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (relying on People v. King, 232 A.D.2d 111 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997), for the conclusion that "[p]rivacy concerns are no longer relevant once the sample has already lawfully been removed from the body, and the scientific analysis of a sample does not involve any further search and seizure of a defendant's person").

Moreover, this notion is embedded in the court rules. Criminal Rule 4.7 provides that the trial court may require a defendant to submit to "the taking of samples of or from the defendant's blood, hair, and other materials of the defendant's body including materials under the defendant's fingernails which involve no unreasonable intrusion thereof." CrR 4.7(b)(2)(vi). The rule contains no express authorization for testing. Surely the Washington Supreme Court did not intend for superior courts to routinely authorize seizures of blood simply to compile stocks of blood vials in police evidence rooms. Instead, it must have intended that the seizure of blood or other biological samples includes subjecting that evidence to relevant forensic analysis, or the seizure was pointless.

Other jurisdictions have reached similar results. <u>See, e.g., State v.</u>

<u>Price, 270 P.3d 527 (Utah 2012) (holding, on facts nearly identical to</u>

those presented in Martines, that a suspect has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the presence of contraband in his lawfully obtained blood); Harrison v. Commissioner of Public Safety, 781 N.W.2d 918 (Minn. Ct. App. 2010) ("[W]hen the state has lawfully obtained a sample of a person's blood . . . specifically for the purpose of determining alcohol concentration, the person has lost any legitimate expectation of privacy in the alcohol concentration derived from analysis of the sample"); Wright v. State, 579 S.E.2d 214, 222 (Ga. 2003) (determining that development of film in a camera need not be authorized by warrant, as it is "akin to a laboratory test on any lawfully seized object"); Patterson v. State, 744 N.E.2d 945, 947 (Ind. Ct. App. 2001) (concluding that there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in a blood sample lawfully obtained by police); State v. Wallace, 910 P.2d 695 (Haw. 1996) (determining that the chemical testing of evidence already within police custody does not invade any legitimate expectation of privacy); State v. Petrone, 468 N.W.2d 676. 681 (Wisc. 1991) (holding that police may develop film seized during execution of a search warrant because a "search warrant does not limit officers to naked-eye inspections of objects lawfully seized"), overruled on other grounds by State v. Greve, 468 N.W.2d 676 (Wisc. 1991); State v. Moretti, 521 A.2d 1003, 1009 (R.I. 1987) ("No principle of constitutional law requires any law enforcement official to obtain a

warrant prior to testing any item seized during a valid search"), abrogated on other grounds by Advisory Opinion to the Governor (Appointed Counsel), 666 A.2d 813 (1995); see also United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800, 803-06, 94 S. Ct. 1234, 39 L. Ed. 2d 771 (1974) ("Indeed, it is difficult to perceive what is unreasonable about the police's examining and holding as evidence those personal effects of the accused that they already have in their lawful custody as the result of a lawful arrest.").

Indeed, on facts nearly identical to this case, the Supreme Court held in Schmerber, supra, that police may *obtain and test* a blood sample from a suspected drunk driver without a search warrant if exigent circumstances are present. 384 U.S. at 771-72. And, in <u>United States v. Snyder</u>, 852 F.2d 471 (9th Cir. 1988), the Ninth Circuit confronted an argument identical to the one Armstrong raises here. In rejecting Snyder's claim that a warrant was needed in order to test the alcohol content of his blood (which was lawfully seized pursuant to exigent circumstances, as authorized by <u>Schmerber</u>), the court explained that <u>Schmerber</u> "viewed the right to seize the blood as encompassing the right to conduct a bloodalcohol test at some later time." <u>Snyder</u>, 852 F.2d at 474. Thus, as long as a blood-alcohol test has no independent significance for fourth amendment purposes." <u>Id.</u>

Numerous additional examples exist of the general proposition that "a lawful seizure of apparent evidence of crime pursuant to a search warrant carries with it a right to test or otherwise examine the seized materials to ascertain or enhance their evidentiary value." 2 LaFave § 4.10(e) at 988-93 & nn.231-34 (citing cases); see also Josh Goldfoot, The Physical Computer and the Fourth Amendment, 16 Berkeley J. Crim. L. 112, 149-54 & nn.153-72 (2011) (explaining that "so long as . . . objects come into law enforcement's possession lawfully, courts do not require additional Fourth Amendment justification before police subject [those objects] to examination," and citing cases relating to examination of blood, film, clothing, cars, carpet fibers, purses, paper, videotapes, and the defendant's hands).

Against this bulwark of authority, <u>Martines</u> alone concludes that express judicial authorization is required to forensically analyze evidence lawfully in the possession of law enforcement. However, <u>Martines</u> attempted to use the reasoning of <u>Skinner v. Ry. Labor Execs.' Assn.</u>, 489 U.S. 602, 109 S. Ct. 1402, 103 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1989), and <u>Robinson v. City of Seattle</u>, 102 Wn. App. 795, 822 n.105, 10 P.3d 452 (2000), to conclude that the taking of a biological sample and the analysis of a biological sample are separate events for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.

These cases do not support Martines' holding. The administrative searches in these cases were analyzed under the "special needs" doctrine, meaning that the searches were not supported by probable cause or individualized suspicion. Further, although the cases make some distinction between the privacy interest in the taking of the sample and the privacy interest in the analysis of the sample, that distinction makes no difference to the outcome of the cases - rendering it dicta. Skinner, 489 U.S. at 616; Robinson, 102 Wn. App. at 822 n.105. Moreover, the dissent in Skinner drew a distinction between extraction of blood and its subsequent analysis, and would have placed the same constitutional limitations on each individually. 489 U.S. at 642-43 (Marshall, J., dissenting). However, the majority opinion concludes that a single rationale supported both the seizure of the sample and its later analysis. <u>Id.</u> at 633. Thus, instead of supporting the court's conclusion in <u>Martines</u>, the holding in Skinner contradicts it. Finally, while these cases recognize that different privacy interests may be at stake in the acquisition of evidence and in the analysis of it, neither holds that the testing alone is an unreasonable intrusion into an individual's privacy.8

⁸ <u>Martines</u> also cited to additional special needs cases: <u>Ferguson v. City of Charleston</u>, 532 U.S. 67, 121 S. Ct. 1281, 149 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2001); <u>State v. Olivas</u>, 122 Wn.2d 73, 856 P.2d 1076 (1993); <u>United States v. Mitchell</u>, 652 F.3d 387 (3d Cir. 2011); <u>United States v. Weikert</u>, 504 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2007). The application of any of these cases to the question raised suffers from the same infirmities discussed above.

Here, the police had lawful custody of Armstrong's blood; they obtained it pursuant to the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. Accordingly, subjecting it to further examination to support a prosecution for Vehicular Homicide and Vehicular Assault did not violate Armstrong's rights under either the Fourth Amendment or Article I, section 7.

This is not to say that courts should turn a blind eye to a forensic examination that intrudes into sensitive areas unrelated to any possible crime under investigation. Courts have a role to play if the police, instead of looking for evidence of intoxication, analyze a suspect's blood for "evidence of disease, pregnancy, and genetic family relationships or lack thereof." Martines, 182 Wn. App. at 530. But here, law enforcement did no such thing. Its analysis of Armstrong's blood looked solely at evidence of impairment relevant to the crime of Vehicular Homicide and Vehicular Assault. Because the concerns of law enforcement overreaching expressed in Martines were hypothetical and not raised in that case, the court should not have relied on them to issue a broad ruling inconsistent with Washington precedent. Compare State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 367-68, 158 P.3d 27 (2007) (declining to address the fact that DNA testing of abandoned saliva "has the potential to reveal a vast amount of personal

information" when law enforcement used it solely for the limited purpose of identification). This Court should not do so in this case either.

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